SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ROBERT FLAMILY,

Petitioner

vs.

CASE NO.: SC06-847

CITY OF ORLANDO and CITY OF ORLANDO RISK MANAGEMENT,

Respondents

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Todd J. Sanders, Esq. Fla. Bar. No.: 860920

Geoffrey Bichler, Esq. Fla. Bar No.: 850632

Bichler & Kelley, P.A. 807 West Morse Blvd. Suite 201 Winter Park, Florida 32789 (407) 599-3777 Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, ROBERT FLAMILY, shall be referred to herein as "Claimant" or "Claimant/Petitioner." The Respondents, CITY OF ORLANDO and CITY OF ORLANDO RISK MANAGEMENT, shall be referred to by those terms or as "the E/SA".

The Judge of Compensation Claims shall be referred to by the letters "JCC". The First District Court of Appeal shall be referred to either by its full name or as "the First DCA."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As this Honorable Court is aware, the record on the appeal below is extensive, comprising twenty-one volumes. This case concerns a hotly contested and exhaustively litigated workers' compensation claim that took more than three years to go to trial – a trial that involved the compensability of a firefighter's Hepatitis "C" condition, the validity of a settlement agreement, an estoppel claim based on the Employer's failure to comply with a crucial discovery request, and the Employer's failure to comply with its own policies to protect firefighters from Hepatitis "C" exposure.

In 1996 the Claimant received a "line-of-duty" disability retirement from the Orlando Fire Department due to cardiovascular abnormalities. (V7-1372). The city recognized the Claimant's cardiac problems as workrelated pursuant to §112.18, Fla. Stat. (popularly known as the "Heart/Lung Bill)" (V7-1397) and also paid workers' compensation benefits until this cardiac claim was ostensibly settled in 1996. (V9-1666-1679). JCC Joseph Willis entered an order approving this settlement on December 13, 1996¹. The agreement provided that all claims, known and unknown, were resolved by virtue of the "settlement."

¹ The mediation report, certain correspondence surrounding the settlement paperwork, the actual settlement documents themselves, and the order approving the settlement stipulation are found in Vol. 17, pages 3303-3348.

In 2000, routine blood work revealed that the Claimant had liver function abnormalities. He was subsequently diagnosed with Hepatitis "C" (hereinafter "HCV"), and underwent a liver biopsy which revealed advanced permanent liver damage due to a long standing disease process described as "full blown cirrhosis." (V10-1835). The Claimant placed the City on notice of his condition on January 3, 2001, and sought workers' compensation benefits for it. (V3-416-17). The City denied responsibility for the Claimant's HCV on January 19, 2001, and listed as its grounds for this denial, inter alia, that the Claimant's HCV was not the result of an accident or injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment, and that the Claimant previously settled all claims against the City pursuant to the aforementioned settlement agreement, even if these claims were unknown at the time the agreement was made. Thus, the City maintained that the Claimant was precluded from pursuing his HCV claim. (V4-708).

The Claimant, represented by new counsel, filed Motion to Set Aside Order Approving Joint Petition filed on May 28, 2002. (V4-729-732). As grounds for this request, the motion stated that:

1) there was no medical documentation supporting the agreement's assertion that Dr. Kakkar had assigned an MMI date of July 22, 1996,

with an assignment of a 0% impairment rating and no work restrictions (V4-730);

2) at the time of the November 14, 1996 mediation and subsequent settlement agreement the E/SA had actual or constructive knowledge of the Claimant's potential liver disease dating to 1978 as shown in abnormal blood test results, and that not only were these abnormalities not disclosed to the Claimant or his attorney, but that the E/SA also affirmatively asserted via a document sent to the Claimant's counsel that they the blood tests for the years 1978 through 1982 were within normal limits. The motion further stated that recent discovery revealed that the 1978 tests results were not normal, and that no blood test results for the years 1979 through 1982 were provided (V4-730-31);

3) neither the Claimant nor his attorney at the time of the settlement was aware of the probability that the Claimant had been infected with "the potentially deadly Hepatitis 'C' virus" (V4-731);

4) the settlement agreement did not reference a known medical condition, and further misrepresented the Claimant's cardiovascular condition, which in turn prevented the Claimant from making an informed decision regarding his options at the time of entering the

settlement agreement, and also precluded the Judge of Compensation Claims "from being able to properly evaluate the settlement agreement" (V4-731); and

5) the Claimant would not have entered the settlement agreement had he known of the abnormal blood test results, the JCC was not provided accurate information concerning the Claimant's cardiac condition, and the E/SA's file did not contain the required supporting documentation as to maximum medical improvement, impairment and permanent restrictions. (V4-731).

As stated in the JCC's order, a final hearing on the Claimant's HCV claim was held March 18-19, 2004. (V20-3979). The threshold issue at the trial was the validity/viability of the "settlement agreement", which the City maintained shielded it from any liability for the Claimant's HCV claim. Consequently, a significant portion of the evidence produced by the parties, and considered by the JCC, concerned the circumstances surrounding the preparation of the December 1996 settlement agreement and the order approving same. This included testimony by the Claimant, the Claimant's attorney at the time of the settlement agreement, Herbert Hill, Esq., an assistant with the E/SA's law offices, and even the JCC who approved the settlement agreement, the Honorable Joseph Willis.

A review of the order vacating this agreement shows that much of this testimony concerned the information inserted into various blanks in the settlement agreement, who filled in this information, when the information was filled in, whether the document was altered after it was signed, and whether there was more than one version of the document passed between the parties. (V21-4016-17; 4020). This information included the Claimant's maximum medical improvement date, permanent impairment rating, and work restrictions (V17-3319), as well as an estimate of the cost of the Claimant's future medical care. (V17-3320).

The JCC noted Mr. Hill's testimony that, at the time the Claimant signed the settlement paperwork on December 11, 1996 regarding his coronary claim, it did not contain a description of work restrictions, nor did it state a permanent impairment rating. (V21-4016). The JCC also noted Mr. Hill's testimony that the missing information was not received from Dr. Kakkar until after office hours on December 11, 1996, and so "the substance of [Dr. Kakkar's] response was not known to either Mr. Hill or Claimant when each executed the settlement paperwork." (V21-4016-17). The JCC noted that the copy "attested by Mr. Hill to represent what was forwarded by his office to [the E/SA's attorney] on December 12, 1996 . . . is suggestive of some correction having been made to that same blank. The document

appears mottled and marked in that area in a manner suggestive of 'whiteout' or some other method of covering marks having been employed." (V21-4017-18).

The JCC's order further summarized the testimony of a paralegal at the E/SA's attorney's office as stating that Mr. Hill was asked to obtain information from the Claimant's physician, and that she had no recollection whether both parties sought the medical information at issue, nor could she locate any correspondence showing that her employer did so. On receiving the versions of the documents signed by the JCC, she testified that she would have destroyed the file copy and inserted in the file the approved copy. She also said that there "were instances in which a set of paperwork has been returned to their office with blank spaces still in it" and that she has inserted information into such blanks after telephone conversations with opposing counsel. In this instance she "could not produce any document in that file which would support the conclusion of a zero percent (0%) impairment, as stated in the paperwork." (V21-4020).

The order vacating the settlement agreement also indicates that it was not until August 28, 2002, six years after the settlement agreement was approved, that the Claimant's treating cardiologist, Dr. Sunnil Kakkar, was deposed regarding the Claimant's MMI date, impairment rating, and work

restrictions. (V21-4022). The JCC noted that this testimony revealed that, as of April 22, 1996 (eight months before the settlement agreement was approved), the doctor would have restricted the Claimant from strenuous work and stressful situations, and that he would not have been capable of working as a firefighter because of his cardiac condition. It also revealed that the appropriate impairment rating for the Claimant's cardiac condition was not zero percent (0%) as stated in the settlement agreement, but would have been "around 75 percent" and "maybe" 5 percent for his hypertension. (V21-4022).

Ultimately, the JCC vacated the settlement agreement and order approving same, stating that the "relationship of the 1996 settlement documents, as to the issues in this case (e.g. compensability of HCV), is tenuous" (V21-4054), and that the E/SA's position in the case before him would have resulted in the Claimant waiving rights he did not know existed with respect to his HCV condition. He also stated that the "central issue regarding the settlement, however, is whether the appropriate information was available to Judge Willis when the settlement was approved in 1996." (V21-4054). The JCC concluded that the agreement had to be vacated because it contained material misinformation regarding the Claimant's actual impairment and actual work restrictions, and was, therefore "patently

flawed." The JCC further found that there were material non-disclosures, but that it did not matter whether these non-disclosures were intentional or inadvertent. (V21-4058).

The JCC also, however, denied the compensability of the Claimant's HCV claim under all theories presented. (V21-4082).

With respect to the Claimant's estoppel claim, the JCC's order includes a lengthy discussion of the evidence regarding his Hepatitis C claim, including medical evidence of HCV in the Claimant (V21-4023-27), from blood tests results reviewed by the Employer's occupational medicine physician (V21-4027), the Employer's normal policy of notifying employees of abnormal liver function tests (V21-4027-28), and the occupational physician's testimony that HCV became a concern among firefighters in 1992 (V21-4028). The order also discusses testimony regarding the circumstances surrounding certain discovery requests and the responses (or lack thereof) to those requests (V21-4030-31), and testimony regarding the Employer's obligations under its contract with the firefighters' union (V21-4031-36).

Even though the JCC found "ample evidence that the Employer had policies which were intended to protect the firefighters from exposures" and that it is "equally clear that the Employer did not fulfill its obligations" he

still found that he could not conclude "that the Employer should be estopped from denying the Claimant's obligations because of failure(s) to comply with policies such as the exposure control plan" (V21-4082), blaming the Claimant for not personally tracking down the infection status of any of the people to whom he was exposed. (V21-4082).

The JCC also placed the blame for the E/SA's failure to provide requested documentation on a lack of curiosity and follow up on the part of the Claimant's attorney in 1996, Mr. Hill. (V21-4077-79). He further rejected the Claimant's position that, had he been provided with the blood test results requested he would have made an inquiry into the indications of elevated liver functions and sought medical care. In so doing, the JCC essentially blamed the Claimant, saying that the Claimant had enough information to cause concern, but did nothing (V21-4079-81), and therefore rejected the argument that the Claimant was prejudiced by not "receiving the medical records *which were apparently in [the E/SA's attorney's] possession.*" (V21-4081).

The Claimant timely appealed the JCC's order. (V21-4092). The E/SA cross-appealed as to the JCC's set aside of the settlement agreement, and the benefits awarded as a result of the set aside. (V21-4097-98). The First District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion on February 23, 2006.

Flamily v. City of Orlando, 924 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). The Claimant's motions for rehearing, rehearing *en banc*, and for clarification were all denied on March 31, 2006.

In its decision, the First DCA affirmed the JCC's denial of the compensability of the Claimant's HCV condition. *Flamily*, 924 So. 2d at 78. The court also stated that, pursuant to its decision in Marchenko v. Sunshine Companies, 894 So. 2d 311 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), the JCC did not have jurisdiction to set aside the subject settlement agreement, "pursuant to the statutory changes made in 2001 to section 440.20(11)(c), Florida Statutes." Flamily, 924 So. 2d at 80. The court also stated that, although under Florida workers' compensation law "a claimant's substantive rights are fixed on the date of accident . . . procedural or remedial changes may apply to claimants without regard to the date of accident." Id. The court opined that the addition of §440.20(11)(c) was "a procedural change that should be applied retroactively." *Id.* Thus, the court ruled, "[b]ecause the statute applies retroactively, the JCC lacked subject matter jurisdiction to vacate the 1996 settlement agreement in this case." The court therefore reversed the JCC's order, and remanded for reinstatement of the settlement agreement. Id.

The Claimant filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on April 27, 2006, and this Honorable Court accepted such Jurisdiction by Order dated December 12, 2006.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts regarding the circumstances surrounding the vacated settlement agreement are as stated in the Statement of the Case, *supra*. Because this Honorable has the jurisdiction and authority to address the merits of the entire case below, and the Claimant respectfully requests that it do so, especially with respect to the discovery and safety policy aspects of his estoppel claim, the Claimant provides the following facts relative to that claim.

In 1973, the City hired the Claimant as a firefighter/paramedic. (V7-1368). At the time he was hired, the Claimant had a pre-employment physical revealing that he was a healthy young man without evidence of HCV. (V12-2398). For nearly twenty-three (23) years the Claimant worked for the City experiencing numerous exposures to blood and bodily fluids before retiring in 1996. (V7-1386, V8-1462). In addition, the Claimant experienced needle sticks with hollow-borne needles on two (2) or three (3) occasions during his employment. (V8-1462, V18-3466). As a result of these incidents the Claimant had been exposed to HCV. (V8-1558, 1559).

While employed by the City, the Claimant was a member of the firefighter union and therefore subject to the collective bargaining agreements between the Union and the City. (V8-1506). All collective bargaining agreements required annual physicals for firefighters that either allowed or mandated blood tests depending on the year. (V6-1001-1356). These physicals were intended – at least in part - to benefit bargaining unit members by providing a general health assessment with results being communicated to members. (V3-458-459).

The Claimant had twenty-four (24) employment physicals while employed by the City (V8-1439), all of which were performed at the City operated medical clinic known as "OMC". V8-1437. At each employment physical the Claimant had blood taken for analysis (V8-1440) and he assumed that he would have been specifically advised of abnormalities uncovered during testing (V7-1377) however, on at least three (3) occasions the Claimant exhibited liver function abnormalities indicative of HCV (V17-3298-3306), and was never advised or counseled with regard to the significance of those test results. (V7-1377, V8-1523, 1534). This failure was a direct violation of OMC policy and commonly accepted medical, practice concerning abnormal blood tests. (V12-2342).

By 1992, the City was aware that HCV was a significant

occupational concern for firefighters as evidenced by a memo from OMC Bureau Chief Juan Boudet, M.D. (V18-3490-3499). At approximately the same time, the City approved an Exposure Control Plan to acknowledge the risks and limit the dangers associated with working around potentially hazardous blood and body fluids. (V9-1783-1815). The City approved a second plan in 1995 called the Occupational Safety and Health Plan also intended to protect City employees from occupational injury and disease. (V18-3478-3684).

As the City was acknowledging the risks of biohazards to first responders, the Florida Legislature was considering legislation to deal with this issue and in 1995 it passed Florida Statute §112.181. This legislation created a presumption of work relatedness for hepatitis in firefighters and-other first responders. The self evident purpose of this legislation was to acknowledge the special risks associated with exposure to blood and body fluids that firefighters and other public safety workers face. At the time §112.181, Fla. Stat. became law, the Claimant was in his last year of employment with the City due to a cardiovascular problem. (V7-1372-73). The Claimant was not aware that he had been infected with the potentially deadly HCV. (V2-286, V8-1463).

In the course of the Claimants' workers' compensation claim with

respect to his cardiac condition, on February 9, 1996, the Claimant's attorney at the time, Herbert Hill, Esq., attempted to take discovery of any and all medical records in possession of the City or their attorney. (V17-3204, 3205). In response, the City did not provide any of the blood test results in its possession where the Claimant had exhibited elevated liver function indicative of HCV. (VI-90). The City did, however, provide the Claimant with a document entitled "Summary of Medical Records Robert Flamily v. City of Orlando Fire Department, #3556" which was included as part of a group of medical records. The "Summary" document inaccurately stated that blood test results were normal in the years examined. (VI-85; V17-3203).

As noted in the Statement of the Case, *supra*., nearly four (4) years after the Claimant retired from the City and settled his workers' compensation claim, he was diagnosed with Hepatitis "C" (HCV). (V7-1416). The Claimant was advised of this diagnosis on September 11, 2000. (V7-1416). The Claimant placed the City on notice of his condition on January 3, 2001, and asked that it be acknowledged as an occupational disease. (V3-416, 417). The claim was denied a short time later, and the litigation summarized above ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The First DCA's finding that §440.20(11)(c), Fla. Stat. (2001) deprives JCC's of the authority to set aside a settlement agreement entered into by claimants represented by counsel error as a matter of law. The First DCA has long and often held that JCC's have jurisdiction to set aside settlement agreements even though the versions of §440.20 in effect at the time they rendered these decisions never expressly granted this authority. Thus the holding below is not only an incorrect interpretation of the statute in question, it is also an illogical and unsupportable deviation from longstanding precedent. It is also contrary to the logic behind the First DCA's long-standing line of cases holding that JCC's have the authority to interpret and give effect to settlement agreements despite the absence of an express statutory basis for this authority, which in turn runs counter to the First DCA's opinions that this authority was not affected by the 2001 amendments to 440.20(11)(c).

The First DCA also misinterpreted the purpose of the amendment to \$440.20(11)(c). The amendment was not concerned with the jurisdiction of JCC's with respect to setting aside settlement agreements. Rather, its purpose was to remove the *requirement* that JCC's approve settlement agreements entered into by claimants represented by counsel.

II.

The First District erred as a matter of law in finding that the amendment to \$440.20(11)(c) was purely procedural, and thus could be applied retroactively. This subsection, especially when read in conjunction with \$440.20(11)(d), which was added at the same time, contains important substantive elements as well, and as such, even if the amendment did strip JCC's of jurisdiction to set aside settlement agreements, it should not be applied retroactively.

III.

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