## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC06-847

**Robert Flamily,** 

Petitioner,

v.

City of Orlando and Unisource Administrators, Inc.,

**Respondents.** 

## **RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District State of Florida

> BARBARA A. EAGAN Florida Bar No. 0767778 MICHAEL BROUSSARD Florida Bar No. 300403 BROUSSARD, CULLEN, DeGAILLER & EAGAN, P.A. 445 West Colonial Drive Orlando, Florida 32804 (407) 649-8717 Attorneys for Respondents

# **

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court, respectfully, does not maintain jurisdiction as the *Flamily* decision does not expressly and directly conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal or this Court on the same point of law. Decisions relied upon by Claimant are different in context and content. They are not irreconcilable with the decision in *Flamily* as discussed in *Aravera v. Miami Dade*, 928 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 2006).

As to the substantive issues in the case, contrary to Claimant's position legislative reform in regard to lump-sum settlements removed the JCC's subject matter jurisdiction to approve settlements of represented Claimants; and thus, the JCC does not have jurisdiction to disapprove a valid settlement by setting it aside. Subsection 440.20(11), paragraph (c), Florida Statutes, bestows jurisdiction only for entry of orders on attorney's fees agreements of the claimant. In sum, once the parties agree to settlement terms, have no dispute regarding the construction of the terms, and each party performs as agreed, the parties' agreement stands outside the preview or the judge of compensation claims. This legislative intent is evidenced by the marked change of language in the 2002 statutory provisions; and, acknowledged by the implementing DOAH rules. Settlement agreements in workers' compensation are now akin to any private settlement agreement in any other legal context.

Additionally, the current changes, since they involve jurisdiction (that is, the authority and power vested in the quasi-judicial tribunal), do not implicate substantive rights of the parties. The provisions at issue, therefore, are applicable to all dates of accident and apply to the case at bar even though the accident far preceded the enactment. Further, the statutory revisions are retroactive by express legislative pronouncement.

The First District has recognized all of these principles in rendering its many post-amendment decisions discussed herein. It expressly recognized the lack of adjudicatory authority in recent decisions concerning represented settlement agreements in the *Marchenko* and *Flamily* case decisions. The *Flamily* decision is neither "illogical" nor "insupportable" as Claimant contends. It is, instead, a correct decision of law based upon appropriate statutory construction principles and the interrelationship of all the provisions of the workers' compensation law.

As to Claimant's equal protection clause argument, Claimant did not raise constitutional issues in the First District. Claimant, therefore, cannot now present such argument in this Court. Further, the decision rendered below does not implicate equal protection clauses of either the Florida or United States constitutions. Claimant is not an individual treated dissimilarly from those similarly placed, by the statutory revisions codified in §440.20(11), Florida Statutes (2002). Claimant has also not been "injured" by the statute as the threat of additional litigation costs is not the "injury" contemplated by equal protection principle. Finally, a rational basis analysis would apply to any cognizable equal protection argument that could be raised in this case. Claimant has not overcome his extraordinarily high burden of showing there would be no rational basis for the legislative action and its application to streamline workers' compensation proceedings.

Finally, Claimant has not shown any foundation in the record to support his argument, that the City should be estopped from denying his hepatitis C claim. There were no findings of fraud or misrepresentation, detrimental reliance, or otherwise, to support the elements necessary to invoke this equitable remedy. For these reasons, the well-reasoned decision of the First District, respectfully, should stand undisturbed in this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT I. THE COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS CASE ON THE MERITS

8

## A. <u>No Express and Direct Conflict Exists.</u>

Claimant contends "the decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of other District Courts of Appeal, as well as this Court, on the same question of law" (*citing Turner v. PCR, Inc.,* 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000), *quashed,* 729 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1999); *Covert v. Hall,* 467 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1985) *reh'g denied* (March 31, 2006); *Liberty Mutual Ins. Co. v. Steadman,* 895 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), *quashed,* 2006 WL 1375226 (Fla. May 18, 2005); *Southeast Administrators,. Inc. v. Moriarty,* 571 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1990); *and FCCI Ins. Co. v. Horne,* 890 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004)).

Pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Court or another district court of appeal. *See also* Fla. R. at App. P. 9.030(a) (2) (A) (iv). The conflict must be both *expressed and* direct. *See St. Paul Title Ins. Corp. v. Davis*, 392 So.2d 1304 (Fla. 1980). The authorities cited by claimant for this proposition, *supra*, do neither: The fact patterns are wholly different and the principles enunciated regarding exclusivity of remedy are not irreconcilable with the decision at bar.

For example, Claimant cites FCCI Ins. Co. v. Horne., supra. The Horne case involves a wrongful death action involving intentional tort allegations and workers' compensation immunity. 897 So. 2d at 1142-43. In sum, this case

discusses an instance where an action, while implicating workers' compensation, is still removed from the quasi-judicial tribunal - - the exact effect of the decision at bar in regard to subject matter jurisdiction.

Likewise, Claimant's authority, *Southeast Administrators, Inc. v. Moriarty, supra,* does not present expressed and direct conflict. It involves a lawsuit in the circuit court raising intentional infliction of emotional distress for a Carrier's failure to pay a workers' compensation claim. 571 So. 2d at 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). The court recognized that the matters at issue concerned payment of workers' compensation which lies exclusively within the Workers Compensation Law. In the case at bar, the statute removes the matter of represented settlements from workers' compensation and does not conflict as it does not involve workers' compensation payments.

Similarly, *Turner v. PCR, Inc., supra,* concerns the principles behind workers' compensation, that is, renunciation of common law rights for quick and efficient delivery of benefits to an injured worker on a no-fault basis. (754 So. 2d at 683) The case at bar involves an effort by the legislature to streamline workers' compensation proceedings by allowing represented parties to privately settle a case. For these reasons, this Court, respectfully, does not maintain jurisdiction.

## B. <u>Additionally, this Court Should Not Exercise Jurisdiction as Limitations</u> <u>Periods Expired before Claimant Moved to Set Aside his Agreement</u>

Claimant settled with the City and the settlement became final in 1996. Although, little discussion exists concerning the time limits that would apply to prior actions to set aside orders approving settlements, it has been implied that a two-year limitation period would apply. See D'Amico v. Marina Inn & Yacht Harbor, Inc., 444 So. 2d 1038, 1039 n.2. (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1984). See also Smith v. Rose Auto Stores, 596 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (1 month); Pruett-Sharp Const.v. Hayden, 654 So. 2d 241, 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (within 2 years); Steele v. A.D.H. Bldg. Contractors, 174 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1965) (within six months); Morgan Yacht Corp/Beatrice Foods. v. Edwards, 386 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1980) (within 2 years); State v. Fla. Indus. Comm., 151 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 1963) (one year). A six-year period had expired in the instant case before Claimant took any action. Further, any other limitations period would also have expired including the one for; actions on written contracts and decrees pursuant to section §95.11(2), Florida Statutes (five years); and actions for modification of orders pursuant to section 440.28, Florida Statutes (two years).

The City respectfully suggests that jurisdiction has been improvidently granted in this case and suggests the case, therefore, should be dismissed.

POINT II. THE FIRST DISTRICT CORRECTLY **CONSTRUED** SUBSECTION 440.20(11), **FLORIDA STATUTES** (2002)AND CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE JUDGE WAS WITHOUT SUBJECT JURISDICTION THE MATTER TO SET ASIDE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

## A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

The construction of a statute and workers' compensation law is a question of law subject to a *de novo* standard of review, as argued by Claimant.

#### B. <u>Argument on the Merits</u>

Claimant appears to suggest that the exclusivity 1. **Introduction:** provisions in workers' compensation law work to eradicate, in all instances, common law rights of claimants and employers involved in a workers' compensation proceeding. (PB 18) The workers' compensation exclusivity provisions, however, are defined by statute and apply to compensation and liability for work place injury. Unless expressly defined, Workers' Compensation Law (Chapter 440) does not apply to collateral issues which may arise such as those in this case where a settlement agreement entered by the parties represented by counsel is subject to "second thoughts". Prior to the settlement procedure amendments (§440.20(11)(c)) at issue in this case, the JCC was required to perform an evaluation of the parties' agreements, determine the claimant's best interests, and enter an order approving settlement. Under the former provisions, the JCC had authority, as the JCC had with all orders, to set it aside pursuant to the general powers, granted in subsection 440.33(1), Florida Statutes, to do all things necessary to perform appointed duties. Morgan Yacht v. Edwards, 386 So. 2d 883

(Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Now such jurisdiction is divested. No evaluation and no order of approval are permitted on represented parties' private settlements, and the JCC has no jurisdiction to interfere with agreements entered by represented parties as stated in *Marchenko v. Sunshine Companies*, 894 So. 2d 311 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2005).

As explained in section 440.11, Florida Statutes, the liability of the employer and carrier *for compensation* (for workplace accidents, negligence and injury) "as described in section 440.10", is the subject matter to which the exclusivity provisions apply. The workers' compensation law does not preclude recourse to courts of law or equity except as to those circumstances confined within Chapter 440. In the case at bar, the First District correctly recognized, given the recent amendments designed to streamline workers' compensation settlements, that the JCC did not have the power or authority to set aside a settlement agreement entered by parties represented by counsel. *See Flamily v. City of Orlando*, 924 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006) As the amendments are procedural in nature, the First District in *Flamily* reversed the final order of the JCC below setting aside the settlement agreement, which was almost a decade old. *Flamily*, 924 So. 2d at 80.

As discussed in numerous authorities, it is a well established principle that "[the] JCC is empowered only to the extent [the workers' compensation] statutes provide". *See, e.g., Marchenko v. Sunshine Comp.* 894 So. 2d 311 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA

2005) (citing, Pace v. Miami-Dade County School Bd., 868 So. 2d 1286, 1287 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004)). "Unlike the court of general jurisdiction, a judge of compensation claims does not have any inherent judicational power to enter orders but only the power expressly conferred by Chapter 440" (and its implementing rules). See Id. at 311. Following Marchenko, the Flamily court recognized the statutory provision at issue here, expressly provides the JCC, as to settlements, the power and authority only to enter orders on attorney's fees agreements between claimant and claimant's counsel (paragraph C) and to consider whether child support arrearages are addressed (paragraph D) in the motion for approval of attorney's fees that includes a status letter addressing child support arrearages. *Compare* §440.20(11) (c) (d) & (e), Fla. Stat. (2002); Fla. Admin. Code R. 60Q-6.123(2) (2006) (RA 8); with Fla. Rule Work. Comp. P. 4.143 (2001) (RA 9) No departure from precedent occurred below, as Claimant contends.

2) <u>The First District Followed Longstanding Precedent:</u> By way of background, prior to the statutory revision, the judge of compensation claims, upon joint petition of the parties, was charged with evaluating the claimant's best interests, among other things, and was empowered by express statutory terms to *enter order approving or disapproving* the discharge of liability of the employer by the payment of a lump sum settlement. *See, e.g.*, 440.20(11) (b) Fla. Stat. (1994), which provided:

Upon joint petition of all interested parties, a lump-sum payment in exchange for the employer's release from liability for future medical expenses, as well as future payments of compensation and rehabilitation expenses, and any other benefits provided under this Chapter, may be allotted at any time in any case after the injured employee has attained maximum medical improvement (...) a compensation order so entered upon joint petition of all interested parties shall not be subject to modification of review under § 440.28. (...) The Judge of Compensation Claims shall make or cause to be made such investigations that he considers necessary in each case in which the parties stipulated that a proposed final settlement of the employer for compensation shall not be subject to modification or review under s. 440.28, to determine whether such final disposition will definitely aid the rehabilitation of the injured worker (...) When the Claimant is represented by counsel or when the Claimant and carrier for employer are represented by counsel, final approval of a lump-sum settlement agreement, is provided for in an joint petition and stipulation, shall be approved by entry of an order within seven (7) days after the filing of such joint petitions and stipulations without hearing, unless the Judge of Compensation Claim determines in its discretion, that additional testimonies are needed before such settlement can be approved or disapproved (...)

(R.A. 5) Subsection 440.20(11) paragraph (c), pertaining to represented

settlements, along with paragraphs (d) and (e), now provides:

(c) (...) Notwithstanding s. 440.21(2), when a claimant is represented by counsel, the claimant may waive all rights and all benefits under this chapter by entering into a settlement agreement releasing the employer and the carrier from liability for workers' compensation benefits in exchange for a lump-sum payment to the claimant. The settlement agreement requires approval by the judge of compensation claims only as to the attorney's fees paid to the claimant's attorney by the claimant. The parties need not submit any information or documentation in support of the settlement, except as needed to justify the amount of the attorney's fees. (...) Any order entered by a judge of compensation claims approving the attorney's fees as set out in the settlement under this subsection is not considered to be an award and is not subject to modification or review. (...) Settlements entered into under this subsection are valid and apply to all dates of accident.

(d) 1. With respect to any lump-sum settlement under this subsection, a judge of compensation claims must consider at the time of the settlement, whether the settlement allocation provides for the appropriate recovery of child support arrearages.

2. When reviewing any settlement of lump-sum payment pursuant to this subsection, judges of compensation claims shall consider the interests of the workers and the worker's family when approving the settlement, which must consider and provide for appropriate recovery of past due support.

(e) This section applies to all claims that the parties have not previously settled, regardless of the date of accident.

In other words, prior to the amendment at issue in this case, the judge of compensation claims maintained a duty to perform an evaluative process and was expressly empowered *to approve or disapprove* the settlement on petition of represented parties, and enter orders as necessary. Now as to represented claimants, the JCC only has authority to enter orders on attorney's fees based upon assurances that child support arrearages are addressed. Florida Administrative Code Rule 60Q-6.123(2)(2006), describes how this is accomplished. (RA7)

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